BLERK, SUPREME COURT.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA

DEPARTMENT OF BANKING

AND FINANCE,

Appellant,

STANDARD FEDERAL SAVINGS

& LOAN ASSOCIATION and

K-MART CORP.,

Appellees.

Appellees.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

S. CRAIG KISER General Counsel,

CARL MORSTADT, Deputy General Counsel, and

WALTER W. WOOD Assistant General Counsel Attorneys for Appellant Office of the Comptroller The Capitol, Suite 1302 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-9896

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The parties to these proceedings and their status in the lower courts are as follows:

The State of Florida Department of Banking and Finance, ex rel. Gerald Lewis as Comptroller and Head of the Department, was the Plaintiff in the trial court and the Appellant in the Court of Appeal. References to the Department of Banking and Finance as used herein will be to the "DEPARTMENT."

Standard Federal Savings and Loan Association was one of two Defendants in the trial court and one of two Appellees in the Court of Appeal. As used herein references to Standard Federal Savings and Loan Association will be to "STANDARD."

K-Mart Corp. was one of two Defendants in the trial court and one of two Appelles in the Court of Appeal. As used herein references to K-Mart Corp. will be to "K-MART."

K-Mart Insurance Services, Inc. is a Texas Corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of K-Mart. It was not a party to these proceedings in either the trial court or the Court of Appeal. As used herein references to K-Mart Insurance Services, Inc. will be to "KMI."

An Appendix containing several exhibits is attached to and incorporated by reference as a part of this Brief. References to the Appendix will be by use of an Exhibit Reference and/or the appendix page number as "Exhibit B, A-22." All pages of the Appendix have been sequentially numbered.

STATEMENT OF CASE

On January 30, 1984, the DEPARTMENT filed a Complaint for Preliminary and Permanent Injunction against the Appellees in the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit, Leon County, The DEPARTMENT also filed its Verified Motion for Florida. Temporary Restraining Order and was granted a hearing that same afternoon. The Appellees were provided with notice prior to filing. They were present, offered testimony, and made argument to the court at the hearing on the DEPARTMENT'S Motion for Temporary Restraining Order. On January 31, 1984, the Honorable Donald O. Hartwell entered an Order Granting In Part and Denying In Part Plaintiff's Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order and Order to Show Cause. (Exhibit A, A-1). Said Order indicates that Judge Hartwell was "of the view" that as to STANDARD, the doctrine of federal preemption may apply, but as to K-MART, the DEPARTMENT showed a likelihood of success on the merits. A Temporary Restraining Order was entered as to K-MART only.

Said Order further provided that Appellees were to appear, on February 8, 1984, before the Honorable Ben C. Willis in Quincy, Florida, to show cause why a preliminary injunction should not issue.

On February 8, 1984, a hearing was held in Quincy, before the Honorable Ben C. Willis. On February 17, 1984, Judge Willis entered his Order Denying the Motion for Preliminary

Injunction and vacating the Temporary Restraining Order previously issued. (Exhibit B, A-5). On March 15, 1984, the DEPART-MENT filed its Notice of Appeal of a Non-Final Order with the trial court.

Thereafter, Briefs were filed in the District Court of Appeal, First District (Case No. AY-101) and oral arguments were heard on July 23, 1984. The Court of Appeal issued its Opinion on December 11, 1984 affirming the Orders of the trial court. (Exhibit "C", A-14). See also Vol. 9, Florida Law Weekly, December 14, 1984, at page 2578.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Court of Appeal entered a rather extensive finding of fact in its opinion at page two (A-14). The Court, however, overlooked the important element in the K-Mart contract whereby K-MART was bound to solicit deposits exclusively for STANDARD and the fact that receipt of funds by K-MART constituted receipt by STANDARD. Briefly stated the facts are as follows.

STANDARD is a federally chartered mutual savings association with its principal place of business in Troy, Michigan.

STANDARD is not otherwise authorized to engage in the business of a bank or savings and loan association in the State of Florida. K-MART is a Michigan corporation engaged in the business of retail sales. K-MART is authorized to conduct the business of retail sales in Florida. KMI is a Texas insurance corporation which is also authorized to do insurance business in this state. Neither K-MART nor KMI are authorized to engage in the business of a bank or savings and loan association by either state or federal law. Neither K-MART nor KMI are licensed or regulated by the federal Securities and Exchange Commission or the State of Florida to offer for sale or to sell securities in this state in or from offices in this state.

On December 22, 1983, STANDARD contracted with K-MART,

through its wholly owned subsidiary KMI, to engage in a joint venture whereby agents of KMI, at selected K-Mart locations in the State of Florida, would, through advertising and promotional materials paid for by STANDARD, solicit and receive funds for deposit, from members of the general public, for subsequent transmittal to STANDARD. The locations selected were: (1) Ft. Lauderdale; (2) Orlando; and (3) St. Petersburg. The funds, as solicited and received, were to be placed in three basic types of accounts: (a) K-MART Certificate; (b) Bonus-Rate Certificate; and (c) K-MART Money Market Fund. K-MART appears as guarantor, on behalf of KMI, on the contract. The program commenced on January 16, 1984. Between that date and the date the Temporary Restraining Order was issued (i.e., two week period), STANDARD received approximately four million dollars (\$4,000,000), through K-MART, for deposit, in their institution from citizens of this state.

With minor modifications in advertising and promotional material, STANDARD, K-MART, and KMI, pursuant to the lifting of the Temporary Restraining Order by the Honorable Ben C. Willis, reinstituted the program. Funds for deposit are currently being solicited and received by K-MART and KMI, from citizens of this state, for transmittal to STANDARD pursuant to the joint venture arrangement of the Appellees.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

One of the principal issues involved in both the trial court and the appellate court was the question concerning the application of state law (Sections 658.74 and 665.1001, Florida Statutes) to a federally chartered savings and loan association. In the trial court, Judge Hartwell was "of the view" and Judge Willis "ruled" that these state laws were invalid as to STANDARD under the doctrine of federal preemption inherent in the supremacy clause of the federal constitution. See Judge Hartwell's comments in Exhibit A, A-2, at paragraph 4 and Judge Hartwell's conclusions in Exhibit B, A-8, at paragraph 9, et seq.

The Court of Appeal in its Opinion (Exhibit C, A-16 et seq.) discussed at some length the question of federal preemption and affirmed the findings of the trial court. The Court of Appeal specifically cited Article VI of the United States Constitution (A-16) as the basis for its Opinion. Both the trial court and the appellate court have therefor held that Section 658.74, Florida Statutes, as applied by the DEPARTMENT, is invalid insofar as it attempts to prohibit an out-of-state, federally chartered savings association from engaging in the business of "soliciting or receiving deposits" in this state by an agent or broker.

The Court of Appeal also held that Section 665.1001,

Florida Statutes, was invalid under the preemption doctrine

insofar as it attempted to prohibit a foreign savings association from operating a branch office in Florida.

This Court therefore has jurisdiction to hear this appeal under Article V, Section 3 (b)(1), of the Florida Constitution as amended in 1980 and Rule 9.030 (a)(1)(A)(ii), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, Snedeker v. Vernmar, Ltd.

151 So.2d 439 (Fla. 1963) at page 441, affirmed and followed in Reams v. State, 279 So. 2d 839 (Fla. 1973) at page 840; Richman v. Shevin, 354 So. 2d 1200 (Fla. 1978) at page 1201; and Matthews v. State, 363 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 1978) at page 1068.

Since this Court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal under Rule 9.030 (a)(1)(A)(ii) on constitutional grounds, it may proceed to determine and dispose of all other issues arising out of the opinions of the courts below and herein properly presented. Lissenden Co. v. Bd. of County Commissioners, 116 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 1959) at page 635; Mournier v. State, 178 So. 2d 714 (Fla. 1965) at page 715; Williston Highlands Development Corp. v. Hogue, 277 So.2d 260 (Fla. 1973) at page 262; and State v. Carr, 283 So. 2d 99 (Fla. 1973) at page 101.

THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

Fundamentally, the issues in this appeal are relatively simple and straightforward. As stated by the Court of Appeal (Al4) they are:

- Whether the circuit court erred in finding that "the federal government, by virtue of Title 12, U.S. Code, Section 1464, et. seq., has preempted the regulation and supervision of federal savings and loan associations" to the extent that Standard Federal's marketing program cannot be controlled or regulated by state law?
- 2. Whether the circuit court erred in finding that, pursuant to Greater Miami Financial Corp. v. Dickinson, 214 So.2d 874 (Fla. 1968), the activities of K-Mart and its subsidiary do not constitute "the business of soliciting or receiving funds for deposit," in violation of Section 658.74, Florida Statutes (1983), which restricts such activities to state or national banks.

However, the application of "federal preemption" is not a simple matter and cannot be determined by the application of broad general statements such as this Court's comments in Washington Federal Savings & Loan Assn. of Miami Beach v.

Balaban, 281 So.2d 15 (Fla. 1973) nor by the "cradle to the grave" comments of the federal trial court in People of

State of California v. Coast Federal Savings & Loan Assn.,

98 F. Supp. 311 (S.D. Ca. 1951). The Court of Appeal held that the Washington Federal case was controlling (page 8 of the Opinion, A-20) in this matter despite the federal limitations placed on interstate branching by federally chartered savings associations in the Garn-St. Germain amendments to the Home Owners Loan Act (A-8) which occurred after this Courts' decision in Washington Federal.

Secondly, the Court of Appeal has held that the 1980 amendments to the Florida Financial Code wherein the language of former Section 659.52(1), Florida Statutes that prohibited "the solicitation and receipt of deposits" was changed to the language of the present statute, Section 658.74(1), Florida Statutes, to prohibit the "solicitation and receipt of funds for deposit" was of no force or effect under the interpretation of the former statute by this Court in Greater Miami Financial Corp. v. Dickinson, 214 So.2d 874 (Fla. 1968)

As to the first issue, the Department contends that the former broad powers of the Board originally given by the Home Owners Loan Act of 1933 (12 U.S.C. Section 1464, et seq.) have been substantially curtailed by the prohibitions against interstate branching contained in the Garn-St. Germain Depository Institutions Act of 1982. Public Laws 97-320, U.S. Code Cong. & Admin. News, Vol. 1, page 1504, Oct. 15, 1982. Federal preemption of state law is not taken lightly and is not something which should be inferred from passive agency action. If the Board does, in fact, have the power to preempt state law, then such preemption must be done by some positive act such as the adoption of specific regulations dealing with the specific topic which is the subject of state regulation. N.Y.S. Dept. of Social Services v. Dublino, 413 U.S. 405, 93 S.Ct. 2507 (1973) at page 2513 in 93 S.Ct. and cases therein cited.

The Department further contends that the 1980 amendments to Section 658.74(1), Florida Statutes, were of critical impact. The general rule that statutory amendments are of substantial significance and must be given full force and effect must be applied in this matter. This Court's opinion in Greater Miami Financial, supra, should be revised in light of this statutory change.

The issues in this matter, restated, would therefore appear to be as follows:

- I. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN HOLDING THAT FEDERAL LAW OR REGULATION PREEMPTED FLORIDA LAW PROHIBITING THE SOLICITATION OF DEPOSITS OR OPERATING A BRANCH IN FLORIDA BY A FOREIGN, FEDERALLYCHARTED, SAVINGS ASSOCIATION.
- II. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE 1980 AMENDMENT TO SECTION 658.74(1), FLORIDA STATUTES, HAD NO EFFECT ON THIS COURT'S OPINION IN GREATER MIAMI FINANCIAL CORP. V. DICKINSON, 214 So.2d 874 (FLA. 1968).

ARGUMENT I

The Court of Appeal summarized the doctrine of "federal preemption" on pages 4, 5, 6 and 7 of its opinion (A-16, 17, 18 and 19). The Department does not disagree with this summarization nor with the citations in support thereof. Fundamentally the DEPARTMENT does argue that the Home Owners Loan Act of 1933, 12 U.S.C.A. Section 1464 et seq. did not automatically preempt all state law concerning the operation, organization, management or control of federally chartered savings associations.

All federal decisions which appear to hold a contrary view, in support of preemption, are founded on the basic statutory provision creating the federal savings and loan system. Congressional intent is found in Title 12, U.S.C. Section 1464(a) and reads as follows:

(a) In order to provide thrift institutions for the deposit or investment of funds and for the extension of credit for homes and other goods and services, the Board is authorized, under such rules and regulations as it may prescribe, to provide for the organization, incorporation, examination, operation, and regulation of associations to be known as Federal savings and loan associations, or Federal savings banks, and to issue charters therefor, giving primary consideration to the best practices of thrift institutions in the United States. The lending and investment authorities are conferred by this section to provide such institutions the flexibility necessary to maintain their role of providing credit for housing.

The Board referred to is the Federal Home Loan Bank Board. It should be noted that Congress granted the Board plenary authority,

by rules and regulation, to provide for federal associations. The law does not contain any specific "preemption" clause. It does not deal with such subjects as interest rates, qualification of officers and directors, nor the subjects of advertising or solicitation of deposits. State courts have authority to determine the validity of proxies of federal associations since the Board has not acted in this area. Pearson v. Federal Savings and Loan Assn., 149 So.2d 891 (Fla. 2d DCA 1963). The Act therefore is not all encompassing or totally pervasive in scope and does not regulate every aspect of a federal association from its "cradle to its grave." Coast Federal, supra, Quaere, has the Board, in fact, by rule or regulation, preempted state law concerning the use of finders by federal associations?

While the Act may have given the Federal Home Loan Bank
Board broad discretionary power to preempt state law, there was
no blanket preemption. Obviously federal associations are
subject to state and local laws relating to zoning, sign ordinances, real estate taxes, sales taxes, fire codes, etc. See
Justice Blackmun's comments in de la Cuesta, infra., in 102
S.Ct. 3014 at page 3029, and Justice O'Connor's concurring
opinion at page 3032. Consequently, until the Board, by some
clear and unambiguous action, evidences an intent to regulate
the particular sphere of action, state and local laws remain
effective and can be enforced in state courts. See N.Y.S. v.

Dublino, supra,

This Court should reexamine its decision in the Washington Federal case, supra, and restrict the broad language used to that limited factual situation.

From the opinion of this Court as reported in the journals, the Washington Federal case, supra, appears based on an injunction issued at the behest of the Comptroller of the State of Florida. See the factual statement of this case in 281 So.2d 15 (Fla. 1973) at page 15. From the files of this Court (Case No. 43,973) and the briefs of the parties, the Washington Federal case, in fact, involved a dispute between Washington Federal Savings & Loan Assn.; Chase Federal Savings & Loan Assn and American Savings and Loan Assn. for permission to open a branch office at the Kane Concourse in Miami, Florida. The initial action was a Petition for Declaratory Statement filed by Washington Federal in state court against the State Comptroller requesting a declaratory judgment and an injunction to enjoin the Comptroller from proceeding with the hearing on American's branch application.

The trial court (Judge Whitworth) issued an injunction and the Comptroller appealed. The Third District Court of Appeal reversed with instructions to dismiss the petition with prejudice. (Case No. 73-413). In the meantime, American Savings had filed a petition to intervene. On American's application,

the Chancellor determined that American had suffered irreparable harm and issued a temporary restraining order directing Washington Federal from proceeding before the Federal Home Loan Bank Board on its application for a branch. The injunctions issued by the trial court were not requested by the Comptroller and the Comptroller was not attempting to interfere with the conduct of the Board's affairs. The preemptive language used by this Court in that decision was directed at the jurisdiction of the state circuit court to interfere with the Board's functions as the primary regulator of a federal association. It did not deal with any conflict between state and federal law or any interpretation of the pervasive nature of the federal law as related to specific state statutory prohibitions.

The Court of Appeal in its opinion at page 7 (A-19) cites language from People of State of California et al. v. Coast Federal Savings & Loan Assn., 98 F. Supp. 311 (S.D. Ca. 1951) at page 316, as follows:

Congress expressly delegated the duty and authority to the Board to make policy, including the power to make rules and regulations for the organization, incorporation, examination, operation, supervision, and regulation of such associations which delegation of authority is constitutional.

The Board has adopted comprehensive rules and regulations concerning the powers and operations of every Federal savings and loan association from its cradle to its corporate grave.... These rules and regulations have the force and effect of law, and are noticed judicially.

The Court of Appeal then goes on to note that this language from the federal trial court's opinion had been approved by the U.S. Supreme Court in Fidelity Federal Savings & Loan Assn. v. de la Cuesta, 458 U.S. 141, 102 S.Ct. 3014, (1982). See 102 S.Ct. 3014 at page 3018. What the Court of Appeal has overlooked, is that both of these federal opinions acknowledged that the Home Owners Loan Act authorized the Board to adopt rules and regulations preempting state law and that the Board, in each instance, had adopted rules or regulations dealing with the specific point in question.

In <u>People v. Coast Federal</u>, supra, the issue involved advertising used by the association which allegedly implied that the association was a "bank" in violation of California law. The court found that the Board had adopted regulations concerning advertising and had supplemented these regulations with a handbook. As a result, the Board had preempted contrary state laws. The use of the "cradle to the grave" concept expressed in this opinion was nothing but dicta and should not be carved in stone.

In <u>de la Cuesta</u>, the question involved enforcement of "due-on-sale" clauses in mortgage foreclosures. Again the Board had acted by adoption of regulations and these regulations specifically stated their preemptive effect. [12 C.F.R. Section 545.8-3(f.)(1982) sections now reserved, 100 Fed. Reg. 23032 (1983)] Consequently California real estate law which

appeared to prohibit enforcement of such clauses was deemed to be preempted by the Boards' Regulations. Until de la Cuesta, Florida courts had also refused to permit enforcement by federal savings associations of due-on-sale clauses without a showing of impairment of the security in spite of the Boards' Regulations. First Federal Savings Asso. of Englewood v. Lockwood 385 So.2d 156 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980) and cases therein cited in footnotes 6 and 7 on page 159. Preemption was not an issue in these Florida cases.

Furthermore the U.S. Supreme Court in <u>de la Cuesta</u> acknowledged that the Board's powers were not limitless and that the cited language from <u>People v. Coast Federal</u> was not to be construed literally. See majority opinion in 102 S.CT. at page 3029, footnote 14 on page 3025 and Justice O'Connor's opening remarks in her concurring opinion at page 3031.

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