D	חיפ	.J. W	HITE	0	
	MAY	3	1985	L	+
CLI	ERK, SU	PRE	ME CO	URE	,
By.	Chief D	eput	Clerk	pe	1

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF BANKING AND FINANCE, ex rel. GERALD LEWIS, as Comptroller and Head of The Department,

Appellant,

v.

STANDARD FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION, and K-MART CORPORATION,

Appellees.

CASE NO. 66,331.

TTT

Appeal from a Decision of The First District Court of Appeal

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORI TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

CHARLES P. SCHROPP DAVID T. KNIGHT SHACKLEFORD, FARRIOR, STALLINGS AND EVANS, P.A. Post Office Box 3324 Tampa, Florida 33601 Telephone (813) 273-5000

Attorneys for Appellees

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

The interpretation of Florida statutes §678.74 urged by the Department is in every sense a "conflicting state limitation" on the federally-authorized practice of using a finder to locate interstate deposits. By purporting to define the activities of a finder as engaging in the business of banking, and accordingly prohibiting any person other than a bank from engaging in them, the Department seeks to eliminate the use of finders in Florida although, as to federal savings and loan associations, their use is authorized by federal law. The Department is thus attempting accomplish indirectly what it is clearly not permitted to do directly. Under controlling law, the Department is to no more entitled to do this than would a state be entitled to prohibit indirectly the enforcement of due-on-sale clauses

by making it illegal for any attorney licensed in the state to file a complaint seeking enforcement of a mortgage containing such a clause.

This conclusion draws additional support from holdings that the scope of the preemption doctrine is determined by the subject matter of the federal statute or regulation in question, not the identity of the parties involved. Thus, in Free v. Bland, 369 U.S. 663 (1962), the Supreme Court held that a United States savings bond, held in coownership as allowed by federal regulations, should pass to the co-owner upon the death of the other co-owner as a federal regulation provided, despite community property law which would have compelled a different result. Similarly in Perez v. Campbell, 402 U.S. 637 (1971), the Court held that a state could not withhold a driver's license from one of its citizens, under a state law which allowed it to do so when a judgment arising out of a traffic accident had not been paid, because the citizen's debts had been discharged in bankruptcy under the federal bankruptcy laws. These decisions make it clear that federal preemption applies to the subject matter of federal regulation, whether or not a federally-regulated entity is directly involved.

The circuit court found it unnecessary to reach the issue of preemption as to K Mart and KMI because of its conclusion that their activities did not violate §658.74.

- 31 -

The First District, howevever, while reaching the same conclusion as to §658.74, went on to state that it "refused" to extend the doctrine of federal preemption to K Mart and KMI because federal law did not purport to regulate such finders or brokers. Specifically, the First District stated:

Appellees, Standard Federal and K-Mart, also contend the federal preemption doctrine should be further extended to prevent the Department from attempting to enjoin K-Mart or KMI from acting as a finder or broker of deposits for Standard Federal because the use of such finders by federal savings and loan associations is specifically authorized by federal law. Appellees argue that the Department, by defining the activities of K-Mart as "engaging in the business of banking" and by attempting to prohibit such activities through the enforcement of section 658.74, Florida Statutes, is seeking to eliminate the use of finders in Florida contrary to federal We refuse, however, to extend the doctrine law. of federal preemption to K-Mart and KMI. Although federal law does authorize Standard Federal's use of finders in Florida, federal law does not purport to regulate such finders or brokers. Accordingly, K-Mart and KMI are fully subject to regulation by Florida laws regulating their activities as a finder or broker in Florida.

Standard Federal, supra, 463 So.2d at 304-05.

From this quotation, it appears that the First District may have been confused both as to the legal prerequisites for finding that federal preemption extended to K Mart and KMI and the ramifications that such a finding would have if made. It is apparent that the First District's principal concern was that a holding that preemption extended to K Mart and KMI would result in totally exempting these entities from any type of state regulation and that, since federal law did not comprehensively regulate their operations, such finders would be left effectively unregulated.

That, of course, is not the case. As previously discussed, in situations in which federal regulation is comprehensive or circumstances otherwise indicate that regulation of a particular activity is committed to federal law, state regulation, even of a complementary nature, is not permitted. However, when federal law has not "occupied the field," supplemental state regulation is generally allowed where it does not conflict with the federal regulation or prevent the accomplishment of its objectives and purposes. Thus, a finding that preemption has occurred does not necessarily mean that no state regulation of any kind is permissible.

In fact, the issue of the extent to which the state may regulate finders and brokers, such as with respect to financial responsibility, is simply not involved in this appeal and would arise only if and when the state were to attempt such regulation. Rather, the sole preemption issue presented by this appeal as to K Mart and KMI is whether federal law preempts the Department's efforts to use §§665.1001 and 658.74 not to regulate, but to absolutely prohibit Standard Federal and other federal savings and loan from finders associations utilizing in Florida. Appellees would suggest that the answer to that question

- 33 -

necessarily follows from the First District's conclusion that federal law authorizes the use of such finders. Since it does, the Department's attempt to prohibit the use of such finders in this state directly conflicts with the federal law and is therefore preempted.

As а second distinct argument in its brief. the Department raises the contention that the First District erred in concluding that K Mart and KMI's activities did not violate §658.74, Fla.Stat. Specifically, the Department argues that the First District erred in relying on this Court's holding in Greater Miami Financial Corp. v. Dickinson, 214 So.2d 874 (Fla.1968), for this conclusion because the statute construed by this Court in Greater Miami was subsequently amended.

Initially, Appellees would note that this point is not even involved in the appeal in the event that this Court declines to accept jurisdiction over it for the reasons set forth in Appellees' Response To Jurisdictional Statement, or if this Court concludes that federal law preempts the Department's attempts to prohibit KMI from acting as a finder for Standard Federal in Florida. If this point should be reached, however, it is clear the decision of the First District on this issue was correct.

Before the circuit court, the First District, and now this Court, the Department claims that the activities

- 34 -

of K Mart and KMI violate §658.74, Fla.Stat., which, among other things, provides that no person other than a bank shall "engage in the business of soliciting or receiving funds for deposit...." Both the circuit court and the First District Court of Appeal disposed of this contention on the authority of this Court's decision in Greater Miami, similarly-worded predecessor statute supra, construing a **§658.74**. Greater Miami involved a challenge to to the activities of a Florida savings account broker who assisted his customers in relocating their money into out-of-state savings and loan associations at more favorable interest Just as in the present case, the Florida comptroller rates. sought to attack the arrangement on the grounds that the activities of the broker constituted banking in violation of §659.52(1), Fla.Stat., the predecessor statute to §658.74. Concluding that the actions of the broker had "none of the characteristics of a savings and loan association," this Court interpreted §659.52(1) as "obviously designed to prevent non-banking institutions from exercising the powers or performing the functions of banks." Id. at 877. The Court then found the activities of the broker clearly outside the scope of the statute, stating:

The appellant does not establish a debtor/creditor relationship with its customers. Unlike a bank, it does not accept deposits for which it has any responsibility of redemption. It does not

- 35 -

pay interest, issue or honor checks drawn upon it, issue savings account passbooks, lend money, charge interest, or issue monthly statements or any other evidence of indebtedness by or to its customers.

214 So.2d at 876.

The Department concedes in its brief that the activities of KMI under the Standard Federal deposit account program are legally indistinguishable from those in Greater Miami. $\frac{2}{}$ Under this program, KMI's functions are acquainting potential depositors with these accounts, assisting those persons who indicate an interest in opening such an account to complete the necessary application, signature card and proxy Standard Federal, and accepting card provided by for forwarding to Standard Federal an initial deposit in the form of a check or money order made payable only to Standard All further transactions and contacts with respect Federal. to the account, including confirmations, subsequent deposits, withdrawals, questions and periodic statements are handled exclusively between the depositor and Standard Federal. Thus, just as in Greater Miami, KMI does not establish a debtor/creditor relationship with its customers, does not accept deposits for which it has any responsibility of redemption, does not pay interest, issue or honor checks

- 36 -

^{2/ &}quot;The factual situation in <u>Greater Miami</u>, supra, is almost identical to the present K-Mart program." Department's Brief, at 28°.

drawn upon it, issue savings account passbooks, lend money, charge interest, or issue monthly statements or any other evidence of indebtedness by or to its customers. On these undisputed facts, <u>Greater Miami</u> was found dispositive of the Department's claims of a violation of §658.74 by K Mart and KMI.

The Department's sole response is to assert that the Greater Miami decision is no longer applicable because of a minor wording change which occurred when §659.52(1), the statute construed in Greater Miami, was reenacted as §658.74 in 1980. The earlier statute provided that no person other than a bank shall "solicit or receive deposits....", while the present version states that such persons shall not "engage in the business of soliciting or receiving funds for deposit...." The Department claims in its brief that this change in statutory language was a direct reaction by the Florida Legislature to the decision in Greater Miami in which the legislature "corrected its prior omission" and eliminated any requirement of a debtor/creditor relationship under the revised unauthorized banking statute.

Once again, however, there are several reasons why the Department's interpretation of the reason for the change in statutory language makes no sense. The first, as noted by the First District, is that the statutory amendment upon which the Department relies occurred literally more than a decade after the decision in Greater Miami. As the First

- 37 -

District observed, this time lag alone belies any intention on the part of the Legislature to overrule the <u>Greater Miami</u> decision.

A second reason, also noted by the First District, that the rationale utilized by this Court in Greater is Miami is equally applicable to both the old and new statutes. The fundamental underpinning of the decision in Greater Miami was that the unauthorized banking statute was designed to prevent non-banks from performing the traditional function of banks. The brokering of savings deposits is not, as this Court observed in Greater Miami, such a traditional banking function. If the Legislature had intended to overrule this rationale, and to utilize the unauthorized banking statute to outlaw activities not normally considered banking functions, it certainly would have done so in much clearer terms.

The long and short of the matter is that this Court's interpretation of §659.52(1) in <u>Greater Miami</u> was correct and that this rationale continues to apply equally to §658.74. In fact, the Department's purported reading of the statute is absurd. If the Department is really serious in its contention that this statute was intended to proscribe <u>any person</u> other than a bank from receiving funds which are ultimately destined for deposit in a financial institution, it would mean that the United States Post Office, every

- 38 -

carrier or armored car service in the state of Florida, and indeed every person who routinely makes bank deposits for someone else, is acting in violation of this law. Patently, the statute means no such thing. Rather, as this Court noted in Greater Miami:

This statute is obviously designed to present non-banking institutions from exercising the powers or performing the functions of banks. context in which prohibition of deposit itation is placed clearly suggests that The solicitation it relates to one of several aspects of the banking business. The prohibition of the conduct of other aspects of the banking business, all included in the same sentence with that relating to deposits, rather definitely reveals a legislative intent to deal with deposits in the orthodox banking connotation as the placing of money in the hands of a financial institution for safekeeping with a resultant creation of a debtorcreditor relationship.

214 So.2d at 877.

Perhaps the ultimate irony, however, is that the Department's absurd construction of §658.74 does not even apply While the Department on several occasions baldly to KMI. that KMI is "receiving funds for deposit," it is states undisputed that the only instruments that KMI accepts as deposits under this program are checks or money orders made payable solely to Standard Federal. Thus, KMI does not, and indeed cannot, reduce any of the funds represented by these checks or money orders to its possession and accordingly, is not "receiving funds for deposit." Thus, while in its zeal to halt this program the Department has championed a construction of §658.74 which would make

- 39 -

lawbreakers of uncounted Florida citizens, its effort fails to reach its sole intended target.

Finally, it is appropriate to note that this argument was made for the first time before the First District Court of Appeal, and was not raised before the circuit court. Since this Court's decision in <u>Dober v. Worrell</u>, 401 So.2d 1322 (Fla.1981), it is clear that such an argument is therefore improper.

In concluding, it is incumbent upon Appellees to address briefly one final aspect of the Department's argument. In a highly improper effort to urge this Court accept its interpretation of the 1980 amendments to the unauthorized banking statute, the Department argues that if the Court fails to accept its reasoning it will create a "potentially dangerous situation" which is "open to fraud and collusion" as a result of which "boiler-room operators and other fringe-level promoters will leap at the opportunity to create new and attractive 'Ponzi schemes.'" Department's Brief, at 30.

Such arguments are not only improper but outrageous and unbecoming to an agency of the state. First, they are factually outrageous in the context of this case in light of Standard Federal's standing as one of the largest federal savings and loan associations in the United States and a member of the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation, and K Mart's status as the second largest retailer in the

- 40 -

United States. They are even more outrageous when offered in a case in which the Department is well aware that it has stipulated to the lower courts that it is making no claim of fraud whatever with respect to Appellees' deposit account program.

The Department's arguments are also outrageous from a legal standpoint. While the historical facts belie the Department's purported concerns about the potential of abuse, even if fraud were to materialize in such a program, the proper approach would be to deal with it directly and not by the Department's approach of "throwing out the baby with the bath water." Stated simply, depriving Florida citizens of alternatives for investing their savings under the guise of preventing possible fraud makes no more sense than avoiding traffic injuries by banning automobiles or preventing medical malpractice by refusing to license doctors.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, it is respectfully submitted that the Department's claims as to Standard Federal must be found to be barred by the doctrine of federal preemption. As to K Mart, this Court should decline to accept jurisdiction to review the decision of the First District Court of Appeal, find that the Department's claims are likewise barred by federal preemption, or alternatively that the activities

- 41 -

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